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Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
To the Chief Executive of Bank of Baroda – UAE Branches 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Bank of Baroda – UAE Branches (“the 
Bank”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, 
the statements of profit or loss, other comprehensive income, changes in equity and 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2019, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Bank in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and their preparation in compliance with the 
applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal 
control. 

  
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 

of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern 

basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
We communicate with management regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
Further, as required by Article (114) of the Decretal Federal Law No. (14) of 2018, we 
report that we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered 
necessary for the purposes of our audit. 
 
 
 
KPMG Lower Gulf Limited 
 
 
 
 
 
Emilio Pera 
Registration No:1146 
Dubai, United Arab Emirates 
Date: 16 April 2020 
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Bank of Baroda - DAE Branches 

Statement of financial position 

As at 31 December 

ASSETS 
Cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank 
Due from banks 
Due from Head Office and other branches 
Loans and advances to customers 
Investment securities 
Derivatives 
Customers' indebtedness under acceptances 
Property and equipment 
Deferred tax asset 
Other assets 
Total assets 

LIABILITIESAND EQUITY 
LIABILITIES 
Due to banks 
Due to Head Office and other branches 
Deposits from customers 
Derivatives 
Liabilities under acceptances 
Other liabilities 
Total liabilities 

EQUITY 
Head Office assigned capital 
Statutory reserve 
Fair value reserve 
Retained earnings 
Net equity 
Total liabilities and equity 

Note 

5 
6 

26 
7 
8 
24 
25 
9 

21 
10 

11 
26 
12 
24 
25 
13 

14 
15 

2019 
AED'OOO 

2,589,857 
4,506,903 

618,895 
14,504,388 

146,828 
5,175 

2,040,493 
15,922 

387,994 
90,103 

24
2
906

2
558 

1,344,778 
630,048 

18,062,947 
90 

2,040,493 
307,803 

22,386,159 

760,000 
79,498 

(28) 
1,680,929 
2,520,399 

24,906,558 

2018 
AED'OOO 

2,991,272 
884,373 

3,610,584 
13,209,688 

142,880 
4,727 

380,227 
7,458 

453,489 
69,858 

21,754,556 

2,399,371 
2,075,967 

14,207,838 
360 

380,227 
316,429 

19,380,192 

760,000 
65,289 
(3,976) 

1,553,051 
2,374,364 

21,754,556 

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue on 
-------

and signed by: 

D Ananda Kumar 
Chief Executive - GCC Operations 

The notes on pages 9 to 72 are an integral part of these financial statements. 

The independent auditors' report is set out on pages 1 to 3. 
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Bank of Baroda - UAE Branches 
 

The notes on pages 9 to 72 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 1 to 3. 
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Statement of profit or loss 
 
  Year ended 31 December 
  2019  2018 
 Notes AED’000  AED’000 
     
Interest income 16 898,140  719,008 
Interest expense 17 (386,441)  (278,378) 
Net interest income  511,699  440,630 
     
Fee and commission income  86,365  79,627 
Fee and commission expense  (2,546)  (1,129) 
Net fee and commission income  83,819  78,498 
     
Other operating income 18 73,297  76,174 
Total income  668,815  595,302 
     
Personnel expenses 19 (58,046)  (51,190) 
Depreciation 9 (11,260)  (2,399) 
General and administrative expenses 20 (63,870)  (78,623) 
Total expenses  (133,176)  (132,212) 
 
Profit before impairment losses and taxation  535,639  

 
463,090 

Impairment losses on loans and advances (net) 7 (277,597)  (881,046) 
Impairment losses on unfunded exposures (net)  (7,366)  (444) 
Profit / (loss) for the year before taxation  250,676  (418,400) 
Taxation 21 (108,589)  (90,727) 
Profit / (loss) for the year  142,087  (509,127) 
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The notes on pages 9 to 72 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 1 to 3. 
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Statement of other comprehensive income 
 
  Year ended 31 December 
  2019  2018 
 Notes AED’000  AED’000 
     
Profit / (loss) for the year  142,087  (509,127) 
Other comprehensive income     
Items that are or maybe reclassified subsequently 
to the statement of profit or loss:    

 

Gain / (loss) from changes in investments held at 
fair value through other comprehensive income  3,948  

 
(1,100) 

Total comprehensive profit / (loss) for the year  146,035  (510,227) 
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The notes on pages 9 to 72 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 1 to 3. 
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Statement of changes in equity 
 

 

Head Office 
assigned 

capital  
Statutory 

reserve  
Fair value 

reserve  
Retained 
earnings 

 

Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
          
At 1 January 2018 760,000  65,289  (2,876)  2,086,584  2,908,997 
Transition impact of IFRS 9 -  -  -  (24,406)  (24,406) 
Loss for the year -  -  -  (509,127)  (509,127) 
Other comprehensive income          
Changes in fair value of investments measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income 
 

- 
  

- 
  

(1,100) 
  

- 
  

(1,100) 
At 31 December 2018 760,000  65,289  (3,976)  1,553,051  2,374,364 
Profit for the year                                                                                                       -  -  -  142,087  142,087 
Transfer to statutory reserve -  14,209  -  (14,209)  - 
Other comprehensive income          
Changes in fair value of investments measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income -  -  3,948  -  3,948 
At 31 December 2019 760,000  79,498  (28)  1,680,929  2,520,399 
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The notes on pages 9 to 72 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
The independent auditors’ report is set out on pages 1 to 3. 
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Statement of cash flows 

  Year ended 31 December 
  2019  2018 
 Notes AED’000  AED’000 
Cash flows from operating activities     
Profit / (loss) for the year before taxation  250,676  (418,400) 
Adjustments for:     
Impairment losses on loans and advances  277,597  881,046 
Impairment losses on unfunded exposures  7,366  444 
Interest expense on lease  93  - 
Gain on disposal of property and equipment  (19)  (32) 
Depreciation  11,260  2,399 
Fair value movement on derivatives  (718)  (2,152) 
End of service benefit provision  (16)  2,029 
Operating cash flows before changes in working 

capital and tax paid  546,239  465,334 
Changes in working capital:     
End of service benefit paid  (213)  (1,103) 
Change in due from Central Bank of the UAE 

maturing after three months  (373,549)  836,101 
Change in due from banks maturing after three 

months  
 

(1,138,643)  
 

259,272 
Change in due from Head Office and other branches 

maturing after three months  
 

291,890  
 

(236,875) 
Change in loans and advances to customers  (1,572,297)  (2,236,350) 
Change in other assets  (21,942)  11,969 
Change in deposits from customers  3,855,110  (31,773) 
Change in due to banks maturing after three months  (14,441)  (81,096) 
Change in due to Head Office and other branches 

maturing after three months  
 

(1,491,684)  
 

591,150 
Change in other liabilities  (8,871)  29,738 
Taxes paid  (52,743)  (28,218) 
Net cash generated from / (used in) operating 

activities  18,856  (421,851) 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Purchase of property and equipments  (4,462)  (2,300) 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipments  840  84 
Net cash (used in) investing activities  (3,622)  (2,216) 
 
Cash flows financing activity     
Payment of lease liability  (11,723)  - 
Net cash (used in) financing activity  (11,723)  - 
     
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  3,511  (424,067) 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  3,994,300  4,418,367 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 23 3,997,811  3,994,300 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019  
 

1 Incorporation and principal activities 
 

Bank of Baroda - UAE Branches (the “Bank”) operates in the United Arab Emirates (the "UAE") 
through its six branches located in the Emirates of Abu Dhabi, Dubai, Sharjah and Ras Al Khaimah 
under a banking license issued by the Central Bank of the UAE. The Head Office of the Bank is 
Bank of Baroda (the "Head Office"), which is incorporated in Baroda, India. 
 

The principal address of the Bank is Zonal office, Sheikh Rashid Building, Dubai, United Arab 
Emirates and the registered address is P.O. Box 3162, Dubai, United Arab Emirates. 
 

The principal activities of the Bank include accepting deposits, granting loans and advances and 
providing other banking services. 
 

These financial statements represent the combined financial position and results of the six 
branches of the Bank in the United Arab Emirates. 
 

2 Basis of preparation 
 

(a) Statement of compliance 
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), 
interpretations as issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee, applicable requirements of 
thelaws of the UAE, including the UAE Federal Law No 2 of 2015 ("UAE Companies Law of 
2015") and the Decretal Federal Law No. (14) of 2018. 
 

(b) Basis of measurement 
 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for the 
following: 
 

 derivative financial instruments measured at fair value; and 
 financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income  

 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 
 

These financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirham (“AED”), which is the 
functional and presentation currency of the Bank. Except as indicated, the financial statements 
have been rounded to the nearest thousand. 
 

(d) Use of estimates and Judgements 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 
 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 
 

Significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgment in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are described in 
Note 4. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 
(continued) 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 
3.1 Changes in accounting policies 
 
The Bank has initially adopted IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. 
 
3.1.1 IFRS 16 Leases 
 
The Bank applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach. Accordingly, the comparative 
information presented for 2018 is not restated. The reclassifications and adjustments arising from the 
new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the opening balance sheet on 1 January 2019. The details 
of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed below. Additionally, the disclosure requirements in 
IFRS 16 have not generally been applied to comparative information. 
 
i. Definition of a lease 

 
Previously, the Bank determined at contract inception whether an arrangement is or contains a lease 
under IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease. The Bank now assesses whether 
a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition of a lease, as explained in Note 3.9 . On transition 
to IFRS 16, the Bank elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which 
transactions are leases. The Bank applied IFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as 
leases. Contracts that were not identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed for 
whether there is a lease under IFRS 16. 
 
ii. As a lessee 

 
As a lessee, the Bank leases some office premises. The Bank previously classified these leases as 
operating leases under IAS 17 based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially all 
of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to the Bank. Under IFRS 16, 
the Bank recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of office premises – i.e. these 
leases are on-balance sheet.  
 
At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Bank allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices.  
 
However, for leases of office premises the Bank has elected not to separate non-lease components and 
account for the lease and associated non-lease components as a single lease component.  
 
On transition, for these leases, lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease 
payments, discounted at the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019 (see Note 3.9)   
 
Right-of-use assets are measured at their carrying amount as if IFRS 16 had been applied since the 
commencement date, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial 
application. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 
(continued) 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.1 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.1.1 IFRS 16 Leases (continued) 
 
The Bank used a number of practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified 
as operating leases under IAS 17. In particular, the Bank :  
 

– relied on its assessment of whether leases are onerous under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets immediately before the date of initial application as an alternative to performing 
an impairment review;  
 

– did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases for which the lease term ends within 12 
months of the date of initial application;  
 

– did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases of low-value assets;  
 

– excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application; 
and  
 

– used hindsight when determining the lease term. 
 
iii. As a lessor 

 
The Bank does not lease out any property and equipment.  
 
iv. Impact on financial statements 
 
On transition to IFRS 16, the Bank recognised additional right-of-use assets and additional lease 
liabilities. The impact on transition is summarised below: 
            AED’000 
 
Right-of-use assets presented in property and equipment                                                   16,084 
Lease liabilities                                                                                                                          (14,479) 
Prepayments              (1,605) 
 
When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Bank discounted 
lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019. The incremental borrowing rate 
applied is 3.50%.  
 
The impact of the initial application of IFRS 16 on the opening retatined earnings is nil. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 
(continued) 
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3  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.2       Foreign currencies 
 
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at rates of exchange ruling at the dates of the transactions.   

 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, which are stated at historical cost, 
are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the reporting date. 
 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, which are stated at historical 
cost, are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to AED 
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates that the fair values were determined. 

 
Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are generally recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
3.2 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, unrestricted balances with the UAE Central Bank, 
due from and due to banks and the amounts due from and to the related parties including the Head 
Office and other branches with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition 
that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value and are used by the Bank for the 
purposes of meeting short term cash commitments. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position. 
 
3.3 Due from banks 
 
Amounts due from banks are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost less any amounts written off and expected credit losses, if any.  
 
3.4 Financial instruments 
 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset for the Bank and a financial 
liability or equity instrument for another party or vice versa. 
 
a) Recognition and initial measurement 
 
The Bank initially recognizes loans and advances, and deposits on the date on which they are originated. 
All other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets) are 
recognized on the trade date, which is the date on which the Bank becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.  

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.  

 
 



Bank of Baroda - UAE Branches 
 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 
(continued) 
 

13 
 

3  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.4       Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

b) Classification 
 

Financial Assets 
 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL. 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL: 
 

• The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 
cash flows; and 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

Financial investment is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL: 
 

• The asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may irrevocably 
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-
investment basis. 
 

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL. 
 

In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise 
meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates 
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
 

Business model assessment 
 

The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a 
portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided 
to management. The information considered includes: 

 

• The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. 
In particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, 
realising cash flows through the sale of the assets and holding it for liquidity purposes; 

• The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 
that business model) and how those risks are managed; and 

• How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the branches’ management  
• How managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair 

value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and  
• The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its 

expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not 
considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the branches’ stated objective 
for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised. 
 

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value 
basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held 
both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets. 
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3  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.4       Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
b) Classification (continued) 
 
Financial Assets (continued) 
 
Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest 

 
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on 
initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit 
risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other 
basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as profit margin. 

 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Bank 
considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset 
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that 
it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the branches considers: 
 

• Contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows; 
• Leverage features; 
• Prepayment and extension terms; 
• Terms that limit the branches’ claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset 

arrangements); and 
• Features that modify consideration of the time value of money – e.g. periodical reset of interest 

rates. 
 
Non-recourse loans 
 
In some cases, loans made by the Bank that are secured by collateral of the borrower limit the Bank's 
claim to cash flows of the underlying collateral (non-recourse loans). The Bank applies judgment in 
assessing whether the non-recourse loans meet the SPPI criterion. The Bank typically considers the 
following information when making this judgement: 

 
• Whether the contractual arrangement specifically defines the amounts and dates of the cash 

payments of the loan; 
• The fair value of the collateral relative to the amount of the secured financial asset; 
• The ability and willingness of the borrower to make contractual payments, notwithstanding a 

decline in the value of collateral; 
• Whether the borrower is an individual or a substantive operating entity or is a special-purpose 

entity; 
• The Bank's risk of loss on the asset relative to a full-recourse loan; 
• The extent to which the collateral represents all or a substantial portion of the borrower's assets; 

and 
• Whether the Bank will benefit from any upside from the underlying assets. 
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3  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.4       Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
b) Classification (continued) 
 
Financial Liabilities 
 

i. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) held for trading, or (ii) 
it is designated as at FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as held for trading if: 

 

• it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or 
• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Bank 

manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. 
 

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration that may 
be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if: 

 

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or 

• the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, 
which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with 
the Bank’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the 
grouping is provided internally on that basis; or 

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits 
the entire hybrid (combined) contract to be designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

ii. Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
 

Other financial liabilities, including deposits and borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net 
of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 
 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and 
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

 

c) Subsequent measurement 
 

Financial Assets 
 

The Bank measures financial instruments, such as derivatives and investments and certain fixed income 
instruments, at fair value at each reporting date. 
 

Financial asset classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income or fair value through 
profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value. Financial assets not carried at fair value are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less expected credit 
allowances. 
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3  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.4       Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

d) Reclassification 
 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition except in the period after the 
Bank changes its business model for managing financial assets. If the business model under which the 
Bank holds financial assets changes, the financial assets affected are reclassified. The classification and 
measurement requirements related to the new category apply prospectively from the first day of the 
first reporting period following the change in business model that results in reclassifying the Bank’s 
financial assets. During the current and previous financial year there was no change in the business 
model under which the Bank holds financial assets and therefore no reclassifications were made. 
 

e) Impairment 
 

The Bank recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on the following financial 
instruments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss: 
 

• due from banks; 
• loans and advances to customers; 
• investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income; 
• other financial assets; 
• loan commitments; and  
• financial guarantee contracts. 

             
IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial 
recognition as summarised below:  
 

Under Stage 1, where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, an 
amount equal to 12 months ECL will be recorded. The 12 months ECL is calculated as the portion of 
life time ECL thatrepresents the ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are 
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. The Bank calculates the 12 months ECL 
allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring in the 12 months following the reporting date. 
These expected 12 month default probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied by the 
expected LGD and discounted by an approximation to the contractual interest rate. 
 

Under Stage 2, where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but the 
financial instruments are not considered credit impaired, an amount equal to the default probability 
weighted lifetime ECLwill be recorded. The PD and LGD are estimated over the lifetime of the 
instrument and the expected cash shortfalls are discounted by an approximation to the the contractual 
interest rate. 
 

Under the Stage 3, where there is objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date these financial 
instruments will be classified as credit impaired and an amount equal to the lifetime ECL will be 
recorded for the financial assets, with the PD generally set at 100%. 
      
ECLs are an unbiased probability‐weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses that is 
determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes. For funded exposures, ECL is measured as 
follows: 
 

• for financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of 
all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance 
with the contract and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive); and 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.4 Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

e)  Impairment (continued) 
       

• financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the 
gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. 
 

However, for unfunded exposures, ECL is measured as follows: 
 

• for undrawn loan commitments, as the present value of the difference between the 
contractual cash flows that are due to the Bank if the holder of the commitment draws down 
the loan and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive if the loan is drawn down; and 

• for financial guarantee contracts, the expected payments to reimburse the holder of the 
guaranteed debt instrument less any amounts that the Bank expects to receive from the 
holder, the debtor or any other party.  

 

The Bank measures ECL on an individual basis, or on a collective basis for portfolios of loans that 
share similar economic and credit risk characteristics. The measurement of the loss allowance is based 
on the present value of the asset’s expected cash flows using the asset’s contractual interest rate, 
regardless of whether it is measured on an individual basis or a collective basis. 
 

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are described below: 
• probability of default (PD);       
• exposure at default (EAD); and     
• loss given default (LGD). 

 

These parameters are generally derived from developed statistical models, other historical data and are 
adjusted to reflect forward-looking information. 

 

Details of these statistical parameters / inputs are as follows: 
 

• PD is the estimate of likelihood of default over a given time horizon, which is calculated 
based on statistical rating models currently used by the Bank; 

• EAD is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected 
changes in the exposure after the reporting date; and 

• LGD has been determined at 65% and calculated after applying hair cut on collateral values 
as per CBUAE guidelines (Bank has considered only cash collaterals).  
 

Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments are 
grouped on the basis of shared risk characteristics that include: 
 

• instrument type; 
• credit risk ratings; 
• collateral type; 
• loan to value ratio for retail exposure; 
• date of initial recognition; 
• remaining term of maturity; 
• industry; and 
• geographical location of the borrower. 

 
The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposure within a particular group remain 
appropriately homogenous.  
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.4 Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
e)  Impairment (continued) 
 
Restructured financial assets       

       
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced 
with a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the 
financial asset should be derecognised and ECLs are measured as follows: 

 
• If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the 

expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the 
cash shortfalls from the existing asset; 

• If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected 
fair value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at 
the time of its derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from 
the existing financial asset that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the 
reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset. 

 
Credit-impaired financial assets      

       
At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and 
securities carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired.  
       
A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired financial assets are 
referred to as Stage 3 assets. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following 
observable data: 
 

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
• a breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 
• the lender of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 

financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession that the lender would not 
otherwise consider; 

• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; or 
• the purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses. 

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event - instead, the combined effect of several events 
may have caused financial assets to become credit-impaired. The Bank assesses whether debt 
instruments that are financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI are credit-impaired at each 
reporting date. The Bank considers following factors, however not limited to: 
 

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; 
• breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in profit or principal payments; 
• it becoming probable that the customer will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or 
• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.4 Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
e)  Impairment (continued) 
 
Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)  
     
A loan is considered credit-impaired when a concession is granted to the borrower due to a deterioration 
in the borrower’s financial condition, unless there is evidence that as a result of granting the concession 
the risk of not receiving the contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other 
indicators of impairment. 
       
For financial assets where concessions are contemplated but not granted, the asset is deemed credit 
impaired when there is observable evidence of credit-impairment including meeting the definition of 
default. The definition of default includes unlikeliness to pay indicators and a backstop if amounts are 
overdue for 90 days or more. 
       
Purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets    
       
For POCI financial assets, the Bank recognises all changes in lifetime ECL since initial recognition as 
a loss allowance with any changes recognised in statement of profit or loss. A favourable change for 
such assets creates an impairment gain. 
       
Default definition      
       
Critical to the determination of ECL is the definition of default. The definition of default is used in 
measuring the amount of ECL and in the determination of whether the loss allowance is based on 12-
month or lifetime ECL, as default is a component of the probability of default (PD) which affects both 
the measurement of ECLs and the identification of a significant increase in credit risk. 
       
The Bank considers a financial asset to be in default when: 
 

• Days Past Due: Exposures that have one or more instalment past due for more than 90 days.  
• Rating: Customers with an internal rating of BOB-RAM 8 or ‘D’ or with an external default 

rating (not applicable in the case of retail facilities). 
• Event driven defaults: This will be based on the customer specific factors such as breach of 

covenants which are deemed material, declaration of bankruptcy by the customer, death of 
borrower, loss of a significant contract significantly impacting the ability of the customer to 
repay and other customer specific factors. This will be applied on a case by case basis. 

 
In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Bank considers indicators that are: 
 

• qualitative - e.g. breaches of covenant; 
• quantitative - e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same issuer to 

the Bank; and 
• based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.4 Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
e)  Impairment (continued) 

 
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk     
 
The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is done on a relative basis. To assess whether the 
credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since origination, the Bank compares the risk 
of default occurring over the expected life of the financial assets at the reporting date to the 
corresponding risk of default at origination, using key risk indicators that are used in the Bank’s existing 
risk management processes. At each reporting date, the assessment of a change in credit risk will be 
individually assessed for those considered individually significant and at the segment level for retail 
exposures. 
 
The movement from Stage 1 to Stage 2 is dependent upon a set of quantitative, qualitative and backstop 
indicators. The indicators are based on statistical models, delinquency movements and other qualitative 
criteria in place as required by the regulatory guidelines. 
      
Improvement in credit risk profile      
 
If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk relative to initial 
recognition, then the loss allowance on an instrument returns to being measured as 12-month ECL.  
       
The Bank has defined below criteria in accordance with regulatory guidelines to assess any 
improvement in the credit risk profile which will result into upgrading of customers moving from Stage 
3 to Stage 2 and from Stage 2 to Stage 1. 
 
Based on Bank’s defined qualitative and quantitative criteria if there is significant decrease in credit 
risk, customers will be upgraded stage-wise (one stage at a time) from Stage 3 to Stage 2 after and from 
Stage 2 to Stage 1 after meeting the cooling off period of at least 12 months respectively. 
 
Incorporation of forward-looking information      

 
IFRS 9 requires an unbiased and probability weighted estimate of credit losses by evaluating a range 
of possible outcomes that incorporates forecasts of future economic conditions. In its Expected Credit 
Life (“ECL”)  model, the Bank has considered the GDP  and Inflation rates  as a macroeconomic input
   
The Bank formulates three economic scenarios: a base case, which is the median scenario assigned a 
80% probability of occurring, and two less likely scenarios, one upside and one downside, each 
assigned a 10% probability of occurring. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.4 Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

e)  Impairment (continued)     
       
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position   
 

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 
• for financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount 

of the assets; 
• for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision; and 
• where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Bank 

cannot identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the 
drawn component, the Bank presents a combined loss allowance for both components. The 
combined amount is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn 
component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the gross amount of the drawn component 
is presented as a provision. 

 

Experienced credit judgement 
 

The Bank’s ECL allowance methodology requires the use of experienced credit judgement to 
incorporate the estimated impact of factors not captured in the modelled ECL results, in all reporting 
periods.  
 

When measuring ECL, the Bank considers the maximum contractual period over which the Bank is 
exposed to credit risk. All contractual terms are considered when determining the expected life, 
including prepayment options and extension and rollover options. 
 

Default definition followed by the Bank for impairment assessment remains in line with the guidelines 
of IFRS 9, without any recourse to the assumptions, and consistent with regulatory requirements. 
 

Expected life 
 

When measuring expected credit loss, the Bank considers the maximum contractual period over which 
the Bank is exposed to credit risk. All contractual terms are considered when determining the expected 
life, including prepayment, and extension and rollover options. 
 

Rating methodology used by the Bank 
 

Within the Corporate & Small Medium Enterprises (SME) Banking business, Internal Rating Model is 
used for quantifying the risk associated with the counterparty. The model has been named as BOB Risk 
Assessment Model (BOB-RAM) ("the model"). Accounts having exposure of AED 3.673 million (US 
Dollar 1 million) and above are rated under the model. The model is a two dimensional rating model 
under which both the obligor and facility are rated. Obligor rating grades are defined from BOB 1 to 
BOB 10. BOB 1 is the highest safety grade while BOB 10 is the default grade. BOB 1 to BOB 6 are 
defined as the investment grade rating while BOB 7 to BOB 10 are defined as the non-investment grade.  
 

Exposures below AED 3.673 million (US Dollar 1 million) are rated under internal manual score based 
model. Based on the total score rating grades are defined as A+ to C with total 5 rating grades. A+ is 
the highest safety grade while C is the default grade. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.4 Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
e)  Impairment (continued) 
 
 

Write off 
 

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic prospect 
of recovery. This is generally the case when the Bank determines that the borrower doesnot have assets 
or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-
off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order 
to comply with the branches’ procedures for recovery of amounts due. 
 

f) Modifications 
 

Financial assets 
 

A modification of a financial asset occurs when the contractual terms governing the cash flows of a 
financial asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified between initial recognition and maturity of the 
financial asset. A modification affects the amount and / or timing of the contractual cash flows either 
immediately or at a future date. 
 

When a financial asset is modified the Bank assesses whether this modification results in derecognition. 
In accordance with the Bank’s policy a modification results in derecognition when it gives rise to 
substantially different terms. To determine if the modified terms are substantially different from the 
original contractual terms the Bank considers the following: 
 

• Qualitative factors, such as contractual cash flows after modification are no longer SPPI, 
change in currency or change of counterparty, the extent of change in interest rates, maturity, 
covenants. If these do not clearly indicate a substantial modification, then; 

• A quantitative assessment is performed to compare the present value of the remaining 
contractual cash flows under the original terms with the contractual cash flows under the 
revised terms, both amounts discounted at the original effective interest. If the difference in 
present value is material, the Bank deems the arrangement is substantially different leading to 
derecognition. 

 

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in 
derecognition, the Bank determines if the financial asset’s credit risk has increased significantly since 
initial recognition by comparing: 
 

• the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data at initial recognition and the original 
contractual terms; with 

• the remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.4 Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

f)  Modification (continued) 
 

Financial assets (continued) 
 

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the 
modification is usually to maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate 
a new asset with substantially different terms. The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, 
changing the timing of interest payments and amending the terms of loan covenants.  
 

If the Bank plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, 
then it first considers whether a portion of the asset should be written off before the modification takes 
place. This approach impacts the result of the quantitative evaluation and means that the derecognition 
criteria are not usually met in such cases. 
 

If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI does not result in 
derecognition of the financial asset, then the Bank first recalculates the gross carrying amount of the 
financial asset using the original effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting 
adjustment as a modification gain or loss in the  statement of profit or loss. Then the Bank measures 
ECL for the modified asset, where the expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset 
are included in calculating the expected cash shortfalls from the original asset. For floating-rate 
financial assets, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is 
adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs or fees incurred and 
fees received as part of the modification adjust the gross carrying amount of the modified financial 
asset and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial asset. 
 

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain or 
loss is presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income 
calculated using the effective interest rate method. 
 

Financial liabilities 
 

The Bank accounts for substantial modification of terms of an existing liability or part of it as an 
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. It is assumed 
that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new 
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective rate 
is materially different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original 
financial liability. 
 

In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and consideration paid 
is recognised in the  statement of profit or loss. Consideration paid includes non-financial assets 
transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities, including the new modified financial liability. 
 

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost 
of the liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest 
rate and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in the  statement of profit or loss. For floating-rate 
financial liabilities, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is 
adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. 
 

Any costs and fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and 
amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective 
interest rate on the instrument.  
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.4 Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
g) Derecognition 
 
Financial assets 
 
The Bank derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows expire 
(including expiry arising from a modification with substantially different terms), or when the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to another 
entity. If the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and 
continues to control the transferred asset, the Bank recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Bank retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Bank continues to recognise the financial asset 
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 
 
In the case where the financial asset is derecognised, the loss allowance for ECL is remeasured at the 
date of derecognition to determine the net carrying amount of the asset at that date. The difference 
between this revised carrying amount and the fair value of the new financial asset with the new terms 
will lead to a gain or loss on derecognition. The new financial asset will have a loss allowance measured 
based on 12-month ECL except in the rare occasions where the new loan is considered to be originated 
credit impaired. This applies only in the case where the fair value of the new loan is recognised at a 
significant discount to its revised par amount because there remains a high risk of default which has 
not been reduced by the modification. The Bank monitors credit risk of modified financial assets by 
evaluating qualitative and quantitative information, such as if the borrower is in past due status under 
the new terms. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Bank derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
When the Bank exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with 
substantially different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original 
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. 
 
h) Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the 
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.5 Property and equipment 
 

(i) Recognition and measurement 
 

Items of property and equipment, including right-of-use asset are measured at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditures that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 
 

(ii) Subsequent cost 
 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 

(iii) Depreciation 
 

Depreciation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of items of property and equipment, principally between 2-10 years. Where the carrying 
value of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount with a charge to the statement of profit or loss. The costs of the day-to-day servicing 
of property and equipment are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as incurred. 
 

(iv) Derecognition / Disposal 
 

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
 

3.6 Impairment of non financial assets 
 

The carrying amount of the Bank's non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, is reviewed at 
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 
exists then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. 
 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount. A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset that generates cash 
flows and that largely is independent from other assets. Impairment losses are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss. 
 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair 
value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset. 
 

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
 

3.7 Deposits 
 

Deposits are the Bank's sources of debt funding. Deposits are initially measured at fair value minus 
transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.8 Provisions 
 

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Bank has a legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, when it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the 
risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. 
 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a thirdparty, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is reasonably certain that reimbursement 
will be received and theamount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
 

3.9 Leases 
 

The Bank has applied IFRS 16 using the  modified retrospective approach and therefore the comparative 
information has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The details 
of accounting policies under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 are disclosed separately. 
 
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 
 
At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, 
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period 
of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use 
of an identified asset, the Bank uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. This policy is applied to 
contracts entered into (or changed) on or after 1 January 2019. 
 
At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Bank allocates 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative standalone price. 
However, for leases of office premises the Bank has elected not to separate non-lease components and 
accounts for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.  
 
The Bank recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs 
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove any improvements made to office premises. 
 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically 
reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Bank uses its incremental 
borrowing rate as the discount rate. 
 
The Bank determines its incremental borrowing rate by analysing its borrowings from various external 
sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of asset leased. 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:  
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.9 Leases (continued) 
 
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (continued) 
 
– fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;  
– variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate 
as at the commencement date;  
– amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and  
– the exercise price under a purchase option that the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 
payments in an optional renewal period if the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, 
and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Bank is reasonably certain not to terminate 
early. 
 
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a 
change in the Bank’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, 
if the Bank changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination 
option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 
 
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero. 
 
The Bank presents right-of-use assets in ‘property and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘other 
liabilities’ in the statement of financial position.  
 
Short-term leases and leases of low value assets 
 
The Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value 
assets and short-term leases, including leases of IT equipment . The Bank recognises the lease payments 
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Lease arrangements as lessor 
 
The Bank does not have any lease arrangements in which it acts as a lessor. 
 
Policy applicable before 1 January 2019 
 
The leases entered into by the Bank are primarily operating leases. The total payments made under 
operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.10 Interest income and expense 
 

Effective interest rate 
 

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments, except for those classified as 
FVTPL or designated at fair value through profit or loss,  are recognized within ‘interest income’ and 
‘interest expense’ in the income statement using the effective interest method. 

 

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The 
‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument to: 
 

• the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or 
• the amortised cost of the financial liability. 
 

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than credit-impaired assets, 
the Banks estimate future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but 
not expected credit losses.  
 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or 
received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability. 

 

Presentation 
 

Interest income and expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI include: 
 

• Interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost calculated on an 
effective interest basis; and 

• Interest on financial investment is measured at FVOCI calculated on an effective interest basis; 
 

Interest income and expense on other financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are presented 
in net income from other financial instruments at FVTPL. 
 

Amortised cost and gross carrying amount 
 

The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset 
or financial liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus 
the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial 
amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss 
allowance. 
 

The ‘gross carrying amount of a financial asset’ is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting 
for any expected credit loss allowance. 
 

For financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income 
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis. 

 

For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest income is calculated by 
applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset. The calculation of 
interest income does not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk of the asset improves. 
 

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying 
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.11 Fee and commission income 
 
Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate of a financial 
asset or liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate. 
 
Other fee and commission income, including account servicing fees, placement fees and syndication 
fees, are recognised as the related services are performed. 
 
A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the Bank’s financial 
statements may be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the 
case, then the Bank first applies IFRS 9 to separate and measure the part of the contract that is in the 
scope of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 15 to the residual. 
 
Other fees and commission expenses relates mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed 
in the statement of profit or loss as the services are received. 
 
3.12 Taxation 
 
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year 
and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. It is measured using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax 
is not recognised for: 

(1) temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that 
is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit and 
loss; 

(2) temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable 
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

(3) taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 
 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
they can be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when 
they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. The measurement of 
deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Bank expects, at 
the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and 
assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different 
tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets 
and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 
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3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.12 Taxation (continued) 
 
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Bank considers the impact of tax 
exposures, including whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment relies on 
estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about future events. New 
information may become available that causes the Bank to change its judgment regarding the 
adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities would impact tax expense in the 
period in which such a determination is made. 
 
3.13 Staff terminal benefits 
 
The Bank provides for staff terminal benefits based on an estimation of the amount of future benefit 
that employees have earned in return for their service until their retirement subject to completion of 
minimum service period. This calculation is performed based on a projected unit credit method. 
 
The Bank contributes to the pension scheme for UAE nationals under the UAE pension and social 
security law. This is a defined contribution pension plan and the Bank's contributions are charged to the 
statement of profit or loss in the period to which they relate. In respect of this scheme, the Bank has a 
legal and constructive obligation to pay the fixed contributions as they fall due and no obligations exist 
to pay the future benefits. 
 
3.14 Financial guarantees and loan commitments 
 
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the 
holder for a loss it incurs as a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the 
terms of a debt instrument. Loan commitments are firm commitments to provide credit under pre-
specified terms and conditions. 
 
Financial guarantee liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value, and the initial fair value is 
amortised over the life of the financial guarantee. The guarantee liability is subsequently carried at the 
higher of this amortised amount and the present value of any expected future payment (when a payment 
under the guarantee has become probable). 
 
The amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 and the amount initially 
recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with 
the Bank’s revenue recognition policies. 
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4 Significant management judgements and estimates 
 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. 
 
Information about significant areas of estimation and uncertainty and critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements are described below: 
 
(i) Impairment losses on loans and advances 
 
The measurement of impairment losses under IFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets requires 
judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral 
values when determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. 
These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes which can result in different levels of 
allowances.  

 
(ii) Fair value of derivatives 
 
The fair value of derivatives that are not quoted in active markets are determined using valuation 
techniques. Valuation techniques include using arm's length transactions between knowledgeable, 
willing parties (if available), reference to the current market value of other instruments that are 
substantially the same and discounted cash flow analysis. To the extent it is practical, observable data 
is applied in the valuation techniques, however areas such as credit risk (both own and countcrparty), 
volatilities and correlation requires management to make assumptions. Changes in assumptions relating 
to these factors could affect the reported fair value of derivatives. 
 
(iii) Income taxes 
 
The Bank is subject to income tax in the UAE. Estimates are required in determining the provision for 
income taxes. There are several transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination 
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Bank recognises liabilities for anticipated tax 
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of 
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the 
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 
(iv) Recoverbility of deferred tax asset (DTA) 
 
The Bank reviews the recoverbility of deferred tax asset on a periodic basis. DTA is relased to the 
statement of profit or lossas a result of decrease in loan loss provision or loan being written off from 
the statement of finacial postion.In determining the recoverbility of DTA, the management makes 
estimates and uses judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating that DTA is not 
recoverable. 
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5 Cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank 

 
 
 2019  2018  
 AED’000  AED’000  
    

Cash on hand 113,836  117,880 
    
Balances with UAE Central Bank:    
Certificate of deposits 1,300,000  1,500,000 
Clearing accounts 374,209  595,129 
Regulatory cash reserve deposits (note 5.1) 801,812  778,263 
 2,589,857  2,991,272 
 
 
5.1 Regulatory cash reserve is maintained with the UAE Central Bank in UAE Dirhams 
and US Dollars and cannot be withdrawn without its approval. Accordingly, it is not available 
to finance the day to day operations of the Branches. The regulatory cash reserve balance is 
calculated each month in accordance with UAE Central Bank directives and is based on 
outstanding customer deposit balances. 
 
 
6 Due from banks 
 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Money market placements  4,494,571  867,775 
Nostro balances 12,332  16,598 
  4,506,903  884,373 
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7 Loans and advances to customers 
 
The composition of the loans and advances is as follows: 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Overdrafts 5,926,052  3,949,627 
Term loans 7,259,718  7,148,281 
Loans against trust receipts 1,504,523  1,775,159 
Bills discounted 1,072,581  1,589,317 
Others 1,571,042  1,725,106 
Gross loans and advances - net of interest suspense 17,333,916  16,187,490 
Less: Allowances for impairment losses (2,829,528)  (2,977,802) 
Net loans and advances to customers 14,504,388  13,209,688 
 

 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 

Less:    
ECL on loans and advances - performing (Stage 1 and 2) 211,748  239,871 
ECL on loans and advances – non performing (Stage 3) 2,617,780  2,737,931 
Less: Total impairment allowance 2,829,528  2,977,802 
 
An analysis of changes in the carrying amount and the corresponding ECL allowances is as 
follows: 

 
 
 Stage 1  

 
Stage 2  

 
Stage 3  

 
Total 

 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 

ECL allowance at 1 January 2019 104,076 
 

 135,795 
  

2,737,931  
  

2,977,802  
     -  - 

Net (reversals) / impairment 
charge 

 
 

1,603 

 
 

(29,726) 

  
 

477,342 

  
 

449,219 

Recoveries - 
 

- 
  

(171,622) 
  

(171,622) 

Impairment losses – net 
 

1,603 
  

(29,726) 
  

305,720 
  

277,597 

Amounts written off - 
 

- 
  

(425,871) 
  

(425,871) 

At 31 December 2019 
 

105,679 
  

106,069 
  

2,617,780 
  

2,829,528 
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7 Loans and advances to customers (continued) 
 
 

 Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 

Impairment allowance at 31 
December 2017 - 

 
205,606 

  
2,181,145  

  
2,386,751  

Transitional impact of IFRS 9 88,751  (66,141)  -  22,610 
ECL allowance at 1 January 2018 88,751  139,465   2,181,245   2,409,361 

Net (reversals) / impairment 
charge 

 
 

15,325 

 
 

(3,670) 

  
 

941,877 

  
 

953,532 

Recoveries - 
 

- 
  

(72,486) 
  

(72,486) 

Impairment losses - net 
 

15,325 
  

(3,670) 
  

869,391 
  

881,046 

Amounts written off - 
 

- 
  

(312,705) 
  

(312,705) 

At 31 December 2018 
 

104,076 
  

135,795 
  

2,737,831 
  

2,977,702 
 
 
 
8 Investment securities 
 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Investments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

   

Opening balances as at 1 January 142,880  143,980 
Fair value reserve movement 3,948  (1,100) 
Balance at 31 December 146,828  142,880 
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9 Property and equipment 
 
[ 
 

 Furniture 
fixtures 

and 
premises  

Motor 
vehicles 

and other 
equipment 

  
 

Right-of-
use assets    Total 

 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
Cost        
At 1 January 2018 25,871  7,031  -  32,902 
Additions 1,924  376  -  2,300 
Transfers 824  (824)  -  - 
Disposals and assets written off (198)  (298)  -  (496) 
At 31 December 2018 28,421  6,285  -  34,706 
Transition impact of IFRS 16 -  -  16,084  16,084 
Additions 3,471  991  -  4,462 
Disposals and assets written off (3,613)  (493)  -  (4,106) 
At 31 December 2019 28,279  6,783  16,084  51,146 
        
Accumulated depreciation        
At 1 January 2018 18,995  6,298  -  25,293 
Charge for the year 2,223  176  -  2,399 
Transfers 383  (383)  -  - 
Disposals and assets written off (167)  (277)  -  (444) 
At 31 December 2018 21,434  5,814  -  27,248 
Charge for the year 2,020  307  8,933  11,260 
Disposals and assets written off (2,804)  (480)  -  (3,284) 
At 31 December 2019 20,650  5,641  8,933  35,224 
        
Net book value        
At 31 December 2019 7,629  1,142  7,151  15,922 
At 31 December 2018 6,987  471  -  7,458 
 
 
10 Other assets 
 
[ 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Accrued interest receivable 77,214  52,946 
Prepayments 3,722  10,878 
Other receivables 9,167  6,034 
 90,103  69,858 
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11 Due to banks 
 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Overdrawn nostro and demand deposit 114,551  44,460 
Term deposits 1,230,227  2,354,911 
 1,344,778  2,399,371 
12 Deposits from customers 
 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Demand deposits 5,373,463  4,768,270 
Time deposits 12,218,888  8,932,519 
Saving deposits 461,494  495,418 
Other deposits 9,102  11,631 
 18,062,947  14,207,838 
 
13 Other liabilities 
 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Accrued interest payable 190,870  116,105 
Staff terminal benefits 18,378  18,608 
Provision for taxation (refer note 22) 26,520  36,170 
Banker’s cheque 26,971  28,593 
ECL on unfunded exposures 9,606  2,240 
Lease liability 2,756  - 
Others 32,702  114,713 
 307,803  316,429 
 
13.1 Lease liability 
 2019 
 AED’000 
Transition impact of 1 January 2019 14,479 
Interest expense 93 
Cash payments (11,816) 
As at 31 December 2019 2,756 
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14 Head Office assigned capital 
 
This represents the amount received from the Head Office as Head Office assigned capital to 
the UAE branches of the Bank. On 21 December 2015, the Bank increased its Head Office 
assigned capital from AED 390,000 thousand to AED 760,000 thousand by additional funding 
provided by the Head Office. 
 
15 Statutory reserve 
 
In accordance with the Federal Law No. 2 of 2015, Bank needs to allocate a minimum of 10% 
of their annual net profits to non-distributable legal and statutory reserve until such reserve 
equals 50% of the assigned capital of the Bank. The Bank transferred AED 14,209 thousand 
(2018: nil) during the year. 
 
16 Interest income 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

On loans and advances to financial institutions / banks 140,834  124,375 
On loans and advances to customers 754,184  591,511 
On investment securities 3,122  3,122 
 898,140  719,008 
 
17 Interest expense 
 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

On deposits from banks and financial institutions 93,121  110,231 
On deposits from customers 293,320  168,147 

 386,441  278,378 
 
18 Other operating income 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Foreign exchange income 21,963  31,431 
Others 51,334  44,743 
 73,297  76,174 
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19 Personnel expenses 
 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Staff salaries and allowances 54,538  46,065 
Pension and retirement benefits 1,193  2,873 
Others 2,315  2,252 
 58,046  51,190 
 

20 General and administrative expenses 
 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Central management expense 8,728  9,974 
Rent expense 2,501  14,387 
Legal and professional charges 29,462  34,262 
Other miscellaneous expenses 23,179  20,000 
 63,870  78,623 
21 Taxation 
 

 
Provision for taxation is made in accordance with regulations enacted in the Emirates of Abu 
Dhabi, Dubai, Sharjah and Ras Al Khaimah relating to the computation of tax payable. 
 

 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Movement in tax provision    
Balance at 1 January 36,170  31,786 
Current year tax expense 26,519  26,927 
Prior year tax expense 16,574  5,675 
Taxes paid (52,743)  (28,218) 
Balance at 31 December 26,520  36,170 
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21 Taxation (continued) 
 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 

Current tax expense    
Provision for current year tax 26,519  26,927 
Provision made for prior year tax 16,574  5,675 
Total current tax expense 43,093  32,602 
Deferred tax 65,496  58,125 
Total income tax expense 108,589  90,727 
 

 
The tax charge is determined by applying the official tax rate of 20% to the taxable profit 
arising in the Emirates of Abu Dhabi, Dubai, Sharjah and Ras Al Khaimah. 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Profit before tax  131,820  134,637 
Income tax at applicable tax rate – 20% 26,364  26,927 
Deferred tax utilization 65,496  58,125 
Tax for prior years 16,574  5,675 
Permanent differences 155  - 
Tax expense 108,589  90,727 
 

The tax laws do not permit adjustment of a tax loss incurred in one Emirate with a tax profit of 
another Emirate. Therefore, the tax expense for the UAE branches of Bank of Baroda has been 
computed on taxable profit generated by the branches of the Bank in the Emirates of Abu Dhabi 
and Ras Al Khaimah. 
 

21.1 Deferred tax 
 
Deferred taxation comprises of impairment provisions on loans and advances and interest in 
suspense. The movement in deferred tax during the year is as follows: 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Balance at 1 January 453,489  511,614 
Utilisation during the year (65,496)  (58,125) 
Balance at 31 December 387,993  453,489 
 
22 Commitments and contingent liabilities 
 
At any time the Bank has outstanding commitments to extend credit. These commitments take 
the form of approved loan facilities. Outstanding loan commitments have commitment periods 
that do not extend beyond the normal underwriting and settlement period. 
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22 Commitments and contingent liabilities (continued) 
 

The Bank provides financial guarantees and letters of credit to guarantee the performance of 
customers to third parties.  
 

The contractual amounts of commitments and contingent liabilities are set out in the following 
table by category. The amounts reflected in the table for commitments assume that amounts 
are fully advanced. The amounts reflected in the table for guarantees and letters of credit 
represent the maximum accounting loss that would be recognised at the reporting date if 
counterparties failed completely to perform as contracted. 
 

At 31 December, the Bank's commitments and contingent liabilities were as follows: 
 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
Letters of credit 390,434  561,680 
Guarantees 969,276  1,121,830 
Undrawn loan commitments 2,637,369  2,923,630 
Foreign exchange and forward commitments 2,781,427  3,296,362 
 6,778,506  7,903,502 
 

The commitments and contingent liabilities above may expire without being funded in whole 
or in part. Therefore, the amounts do not represent expected future cash flows. 
 

Derivative financial instruments are disclosed under Note 24.7 
 

22. 1 Contingencies 
 

In the year 2017, the Bank appointed a legal consulting firm for looking into historical 
transactions related to few customers, to assess the compliance with the relevant anti money 
laundering laws and regulations. The legal consulting firm is in the process of performing the 
due procedures required and has not yet concluded and therefore amount cannot be determined.    
 

As on date there is no contingent liability against the Bank and also there has been no claim, 
proceeding or any regulatory action in UAE or in the home country against the Bank. No further 
disclosures regarding contingent liability arising from this is being made by the Bank, as the 
Bank believes that such disclosures may be prejudicial and detrimental to the Bank’s position. 
 

23 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 

Cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank (maturing   
 

 
within three months) 1,188,045 1,963,009 
Due from banks (maturing within three months) 3,368,260   884,373 
Due from the Head Office and branches (maturing within   

 
 

three months) 618,893 3,318,692 
Due to banks (maturing within three months) (940,699)   (1,980,851) 
Due to the Head Office and branches (maturing within 
three months) 

 
(236,688)  

 
(190,923) 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flow 3,997,811  3,994,300 
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24 Financial risk management 
 
24.1 Introduction and overview 
 
The primary objective of the Bank’s is to manage risk and provide returns to the shareholder 
in line with the accepted risk profile. Risk is inherent in the Bank’s activities but it is managed 
through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits 
and other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the Bank’s continuing 
profitability and each individual within the Bank is accountable for the risk exposures relating 
to his responsibilities. 
 
The Bank has exposure to the following material risks from its use of financial instruments: 
 
- Credit risk; 
- Market risk;  
- Liquidity risk; and  
- Operational risk 
 
This note presents information about the Bank's exposure to each of the above risks, the Bank's 
objectives, risk management frameworks, policies and processes for measuring and managing 
risk and the management of the Bank's capital. 
 
24.2 Risk management framework  
 
The Bank through its Risk Management Framework (RMF): 
 
• Establishes common principles and standards for the management and control of all 

risks and to inform behaviour across the organisation; 
• Provides a shared framework and language to improve awareness of risk management 

processes; and 
• Provides clear accountability and responsibility for risk management. 

 
The core components of the RMF include risk classifications, risk principles and standards, 
definitions of roles, responsibilities and governance structure. It also includes a clear definition 
of key terms to ensure that we use them consistently. 
 
Bank is under process of implementing the Corporate Goverance Framework that puts in place 
rule, processes and policies through Senior Management Committee of the Bank of Baroda 
UAE.  
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24 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
24.2 Risk management framework (continued) 
 
Risk principles 
 
Risk principles are adopted by the Risk Management Committee. The principles describe the 
risk culture that the Bank wishes to sustain and develop. They provide the foundation point of 
the revised Risk framework. All risk decisions and risk management activity should be in line 
with, and in the spirit of, the overall risk principles of the Bank. The principles are as follows: 
 
(a) Balancing risk and reward 
 
Risk is taken in support of the requirements of the Bank's stakeholders. Risk should be taken 
in support of strategy and within risk appetite responsibility. 
 
(b) Responsibility 
 
It is the Bank's responsibility to ensure that risk taking is both disciplined and focused. The 
Bank takes account of social responsibilities in taking risks to produce a return. 
 
 

 
(c) Accountability 
 
Risk is taken only within agreed authorities and where there is appropriate infrastructure and 
resources. All risk taking must be transparent, controlled and reported. 
 
(d) Anticipation 
 
The Bank looks to anticipate future risks and to ensure awareness of all risk. 
 
(e) Risk management 
 
The Bank has a specialist risk function, with strength in depth, experience across all risk types 
and economic scenarios. 
 
The Bank's management has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Bank's risk management framework. The risk management department is responsible for 
implementing and maintaining risk related procedures to ensure an independent control 
process. It works closely with the commercial organisation to support their activities, while 
safe-guarding the risk profile of the Bank. It institutes prudent risk monitoring and control 
mechanisms (processes and systems) to ensure compliance of individual risk assets and 
portfolios to agreed terms and policy parameters. It reviews and presents all credit submissions, 
risk policy and portfolio management reports to the Corporate Head Office of the Bank situated 
in Mumbai. 
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24 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
24.2 Risk management framework (continued) 
 
Risk principles(continued) 
 
(e) Risk management (continued) 
 
The Bank continues to re-examine the entire process, inherent risk factors and controls and 
consider opportunities by rationalising regulatory risk management initiatives. Experiencing 
from the crisis, and to deliver value beyond mere adherence, one part of the framework is 
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), to assess capital to cover risks not 
covered under Pillar 1. This ICAAP exercise has demonstrated that the Bank has sufficient 
capital buffers to cushion any extreme circumstances or scenarios and the Bank has adequate 
risk bearing capacity at 99.9% confidence level. 
 
The Bank has established polices, procedures, processes and controls and has provided the risk 
team with adequate support by way of risk systems and tools for measuring and reporting risk 
for monitoring, controlling, reviewing and managing risk. 

 
24.3 Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty will fail to meet 
a commitment / contractual obligation, resulting in financial loss to the Bank. Such risk arises 
from lending, trade finance, treasury and other activities undertaken by the Bank. Credit risk is 
actively monitored in accordance with the credit policies which clearly define delegated 
lending authorities, policies and procedures. The management of credit risk also involves the 
monitoring of risk concentrations by industrial sector as well as by geographic location. 
 
(a) Credit risk management 
 
Procedures for managing credit risk are determined at the business levels with specific policies 
and procedures being adapted to different risk environments and business goals. The Bank has 
established a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible changes 
in the creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular collateral revisions. Credit analysis 
includes review of facility details, credit grade determination and financial spreading/ratio 
analysis. Counterparty limits are established by the use of a credit risk classification system, 
which assigns each counterparty a risk rating. Risk ratings are reviewed annually. The credit 
quality review process allows the Bank to assess the potential loss as a result of the risks to 
which it is exposed and take corrective action. The businesses work with the Head of Risk 
Management to take responsibility for managing pricing risk, portfolio diversification and 
overall asset quality within the requirements of the Bank's standards, policies and business 
strategy. 



Bank of Baroda - UAE Branches 
  

 

44 
 

24 Financial risk management (continued) 

24.3 Credit risk(continued) 

(a) Credit risk management (continued) 

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the 
statement of financial position, including contingent liabilities and commitments. The 
maximum exposure is shown, before the effect of mitigation through the use of credit 
enhancements, master netting and collateral agreements. 
 

  2019  2018 
 Note AED’000  AED’000 
     

Cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank    
 

 
(excluding cash on hand) 5 2,476,021 2,873,392 
Due from banks 6 4,506,903  884,373 
Due from Head Office and other branches 26 618,895  3,610,584 
Loans and advances to customers 7 14,504,388  16,187,490 
Customers' indebtedness under acceptances 26 2,040,493  380,227 
Other assets (excluding prepayments) 10 86,381  58,980 
  24,223,081  23,995,046 
Letters of credit 22 390,434  561,680 
Guarantees 22 969,276  1,121,830 
Foreign Exchange forward commitments 22 2,781,427  3,296,362 
Undrawn loan commitments 22 2,637,369  2,923,630 
  6,778,506  7,903,502 
Total credit risk exposure  31,001,587  31,898,548 

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the 
current credit risk exposure, but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future 
as a result of changes in values. 

For more detail on the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial instrument, 
references have been made to the specific notes. The effect of collateral and other risk 
mitigation technique is discussed below. 
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24 Financial risk management (continued) 

24.3 Credit risk(continued) 

(b) Credit risk measurement 

As explained in note 3.5 (e), the Bank measures ECL considering the risk of default over the 
maximum contractual period over which the entity is exposed to credit risk. However, for 
financial instruments such as overdraft facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn 
commitment component, the Bank’s contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel the 
undrawn commitment does not limit the Bank’s exposure to credit losses to the contractual 
notice period. For such financial instruments the Bank measures ECL over the period that it is 
exposed to credit risk and ECL would not be mitigated by credit risk management actions. 
These financial instruments do not have a fixed term or repayment structure and have a short 
contractual cancellation period. However, the Bank does not enforce in the normal day-to-day 
management the contractual right to cancel these financial instruments. This is because these 
financial instruments are managed on a collective basis and are canceled only when the Bank 
becomes aware of an increase in credit risk at the facility level. This longer period is estimated 
taking into account the credit risk management actions that the Bank expects to take to mitigate 
ECL, e.g. reduction in limits or cancellation of the loan commitment.  The maximum 
contractual period extends to the date at which the Bank has the right to require repayment of 
an advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee. 

Stage wise ECL impairment 

Policies and the Bank’s framework in relation to stage wise impairment have been explained 
in detail in note 3.4 (e). 
 
Collateral and other credit enhancements 
 
The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the 
counterparty. The Bank holds collateral against loans and advances to customers in the form 
of cash margins, pledges/liens over deposits, mortgage interests over property, other registered 
securities over assets and guarantees. The Bank accepts guarantees from parent companies for 
loans to their subsidiaries or other Bank companies. Bank monitors the market value of 
collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement, and 
monitor the market value of collateral obtained during its periodic review of credit facilities 
and of the adequacy of the allowance for impairment losses. It is the Bank's policy to dispose 
of repossessed properties in an orderly fashion. The proceeds are used to reduce or repay the 
outstanding claim. In general, the Bank does not occupy repossessed properties for business 
use. 
 
It is the Bank's policy to ensure that loans are extended to customers within their capability to 
service interest and repay principal instead of relying excessively on collateral. Accordingly, 
depending on customers' credit worthiness and the type of product, facilities may be unsecured. 
Nevertheless, collateral is and can be an important credit risk mitigant. 
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24 Financial risk management (continued) 

24.3 Credit risk(continued) 

(b) Credit risk measurement (continued) 
 
Credit quality analysis 
 
The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets. Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table 
represent gross carrying amounts. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts committed or 
guaranteed, respectively. 
 
As of 31 December 2019 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
 Exposure Provision Exposure Provision Exposure Provision Exposure Provision 
Cash and balances with the 

UAE Central Bank 
 

- - - - - 
 

2,589,857 - 2,589,857 

Due from banks 
                                                    

4,506,903 - - - - - 4,506,903                                                                                  - 
Due from Head Office and other 

branches 
 

- - - - - 
 

618,895 - 618,895 
Loans and advances to 
customers 

               
12,487,738 

             
105,679 

                         
1,494,870 

                 
106,069 

                                 
3,351,308 

 
2,617,780 

                                
17,333,916 

 
2,829,528 

Investment securities 146,828 - - - - - 146,828 - 

Other financial assets 
 

86,381 - - - - - 
 

86,381 - 
Unfunded Exposures 3,874,064 5,476 150,015 4,130 - - 3,997,079 9,606 
 ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ 

 24,310,666 111,155 1,644,885 110,199 3,351,308 2,617,780 29,279,859 2,839,134 
 ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ 
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24 Financial risk management (continued) 

24.3 Credit risk(continued) 

(b) Credit risk measurement (continued) 
 
Credit quality analysis (continued) 
 

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets. Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table 
represent gross carrying amounts. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts committed or 
guaranteed, respectively. 
 
As of 31 December 2018  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
 Exposure Provision Exposure Provision Exposure Provision Exposure Provision 
Cash and balances with the UAE 

Central Bank 2,991,272 - - - - - 2,991,272 - 
Due from banks 884,373 - - - - - 884,373 - 
Due from Head Office and other 

branches 3,610,584 - - - - - 3,610,584 - 
Loans and advances to customers 11,427,351 104,076 1,799,998 135,795 2,960,141 2,737,931 16,187,490 2,977,802 
Investment securities 142,880 - - - - - 142,880 - 
Other financial assets  63,707 - - - - - 63,707 - 
Unfunded exposure  4,573,324 2,151 33,816 89 - - 4,607,140 2,240 
 ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ 

 23,693,491 106,227 1,833,814 135,884 2,960,141 2,737,931 28,487,446 2,980,042 
 ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ 
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24 Financial risk management (continued) 

24.3 Credit risk(continued) 
 
(c) Risk mitigation 
 
Collateral types which are eligible for risk mitigation include cash, residential, commercial and 
industrial properties, marketable securities, commodities, and plant and machinery in addition 
to bank guarantees and letters of credit. The valuation frequency of collateral is driven by the 
level of volatility in each class of collateral. Collateral held against impaired loans is 
maintained at fair value, which is the current market value of collateral under the assumption 
of ‘normal’ market conditions. 
 
(d) Concentration risk 
 
Credit concentration risk is managed via portfolio standards and within concentration caps set 
for counterparties or related parties and for industry sectors and credit grade bands. 
 
 
The Bank's maximum gross exposure to credit risk, before taking into account any collateral 
held or other credit enhancements can be analysed by the following geographical regions and 
sector wise: 
 

Concentration by 
location Loans and advances  

Due from banks,Head 
Office and other 

branches  
Investment 
securities 

 AED ‘000 
 2019  2018  2019  2018  2019  2018 
            
Carrying amount 17,333,916  16,187,490  5,125,798  4,412,220  146,828  142,880 
            
United Arab 
Emirates 13,441,212  13,436,585  650,000  200,000  146,828  142,880 

Other Middle 
East Countries 44,783  60,490  3,102,047  171,920  -  - 

India 1,990,196  1,679,586    1,193,725  -  - 
Europe 313,116  101,939  55,095  1,193,725  -  - 
USA -  15,436  381,994  550,950  -  - 
Others 1,544,609  893,454  936,662  1,101,900  -  - 
 17,333,916  16,187,490  5,125,798  4,412,220  146,828  142,880 
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24 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
24.3 Credit risk(continued) 
 
(d) Concentration risk (continued) 
 

Concentration  
by sector  Loans and advances  

Due from banks,Head 
Office and other 

branches  Investment securities 
 2019  2018  2019  2018  2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
            
Mining and 

quarrying 584,054  591,441  -  -  -  - 
Manufacturing 2,794,537  2,645,028  -  -  -  - 
Electricity, gas and 

water 158,162  185,176  -  -  -  - 
Real estate 860,397  585,291  -  -  -  - 
Trade 5,103,615  3,948,577  -  -  -  - 
Transport and 

communication 
           

82,311  365,955  -  -  -  - 
Banks and financial             
institutions 798,966  893,906  5,125,798  4,412,220  -  - 
Government 124,214  785,036  -  -  146,828  142,880 
Others 6,827,660  6,187,080  -  -  -  - 
 17,333,916  16,187,490  5,125,798  4,412,220  146,828  142,880 
 
Investment Securities 
 
The Bank has investments in debt securities which are measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. Credit risk in these investments is managed within the overall credit 
risk appetite for corporates and financial institutions. The following table provide analysis of 
the debt securities. The standard credit ratings used by the Bank are those assessed by Standard 
& Poors or their equivalent. 
 

 
Analysis of investment securities 
 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
Rating    
A- to A+ 146,828              142,880 

 146,828  142,880 
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24 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
24.3 Credit risk(continued) 
 
Aging analysis of past due but not impaired loans 
 
The following table sets out the aging of loans and advances which are past due but not 
impaired and for which no individual impairment provision has been raised. A loan is 
considered to be past due when the counterparty has failed to make a principal or interest 
payment when contractually due. Past due status of a loan does not necessarily mean that the 
counterparty is impaired. 
 

 
2019 

Loans to customers  
2018 

Loans to customers   
Particulars            
 Consumer   Wholesale  Total  Consumer  Wholesale  Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
Up to 30 days 

past due -  105,812  105,812  -  472,824  472,824 
Between 31-

60 days past 
due 9,102  194,623  203,725  1,450  312,115  313,565 

Between 61-
90 days past 
due   147,034  147,034  6,557  145,313  151,870 

 9,102  447,469  456,571  8,007  930,252  938,259 
 
 
24.4 Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as interest rates, equity prices and 
foreign exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to change in the obligor's/issuer's credit 
standing) - will affect the Bank's profit or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 
within acceptable parameters to ensure the Bank's solvency while optimising the return on risk. 
The Bank is exposed to market risk on its banking book as well as trading book. Market risk in 
the banking book is managed in accordance with the Bank's Asset and Liability Committee 
(ALCO), while market risk in the trading book is managed in accordance with the investment 
policy and treasury policy. The Bank has very limited trading portfolio, hence it is not exposed 
to any significant market risk in respect atrading portfolio. 
 
(a) Management of market risk 
 
Market risk is governed by the Bank’s approved ALCO committee, investment policy and 
treasury policy which define levels of risk appetite in terms of Earning at Risk, forex positions 
and aggregate gap limit. The Asset Liability Management Committee provides market risk 
oversight and guidance on policy setting. The investment and treasury policies cover both 
trading and non-trading books of the Bank.  



Bank of Baroda - UAE Branches 
 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 
(continued) 
 

51 
 

24 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
24.4 Market risk (continued) 
 
(b) Interest rate risk 
 
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from 
fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches or 
gaps in the amounts of assets and liabilities and off-balance sheet instruments that mature or 
reprice in a given period. Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest 
rate gaps and establishing limits on the interest rate gaps for stipulated periods. The ALCO is 
the monitoring body for compliance with these limits. Interest rate risk is also assessed by 
measuring the impact of reasonable possible interest rate movements.  
 
Sensitivity analysis - interest rate risk 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Shift in yield curve    
+100 bps 10,926  9,190 
-100 bps (10,926)  (9,190) 
 
A substantial portion of the Bank's assets and liabilities are re-priced within 1-year. 
Accordingly there is limited exposure to interest rate risk. The interest rate sensitivities set out 
above are illustrative only and employ simplified scenarios. The sensitivity does not 
incorporate actions that could be taken by the management to mitigate the effect of interest rate 
movements. 
 
The assets and liabilities repricing profile has been determined on the basis of the final maturity 
period or interest repricing periods at the reporting date, whichever is earlier. 
 
The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and 
liabilities is fundamental to the management of the Bank. It is unusual for banks to be 
completely matched, as transacted business is often of uncertain term and of different types. 
An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but also increases the risk of losses. 
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-
bearing liabilities as they mature are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Bank 
and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates. 
 
The Bank's interest rate gap position on assets and liabilities based on the contractual re-pricing 
dates is as follows: 



Bank of Baroda - UAE Branches 
 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)  

52 
 

 

24 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

24.4 Market risk(continued) 

(b) Interest rate risk(continued) 

Particulars 
Less than one 

month   
1 to 3 

months   
3 to 6 

months   
6 months 

to year  
Over 1 

year  

Non 
interest 
bearing   Total  

Effective 
interest rate 

2019 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000   
Cash and balances with the Central Bank of the 

UAE 
 

500,000  
 

200,000  
 

600,000  -  
 

-  
 

1,289,857  
 

2,589,857  
1.57-2.54 

% 
Due from banks 2,961,975     393,966  587,680  550,950  -  12,332  4,506,903  0.84-2.66% 

Due from the Head Office and other branches 
 

528,351  -  -  -  -  
 

90,544  
 

618,895  0.60-2.05% 
Loans and advances to customers 3,884,763  999,801  448,969  284,684  8,886,171  -  14,504,388  3.50-9.50% 
Investment securities -  -  -  -  146,828  -  146,828  2.125% 
Customers indebtedness under acceptances -  -  -  -  -  2,040,493  2,040,493  - 
Property and equipment -  -  -  -  -  8,771  8,771  - 
Derivatives -  -  -  -  -  5,175  5,175  - 
Deferred tax asset -  -  -  -  -  387,994  387,994   
Other assets -  -  -  -  -  86,381  86,381  - 
Total assets 7,875,089  1,593,767  1,636,649  835,634  9,032,999  3,921,547  24,895,685   
 
Due to banks 826,192  -  -  404,030  -  114,556  1,344,778  1.60-3.00% 
Due to the Head Office and other branches 91,825  139,415  11,019  9,183  367,300  11,306  630,048  0.7-3.15% 
Deposits from customers 1,608,561  6,474,695  3,955,861  310,636  339,687  5,373,507  18,062,947  0-4% 
Derivatives -  -  -  -  -  90  90  - 
Liabilites under acceptances -  -  -  -  -  2,040,493  2,040,493  - 
Other liabilities -  -  -  -  -  307,803  297,681  - 
Total liabilities  2,526,578  6,614,110  3,966,880  723,849  706,987  7,847,755  22,386,159   
On balance sheet interest rate sensitivity gap – 

2019 
 

5,348,511  (5,020,343)  (2,330,231)  111,785  8,326,012  (3,926,208)  
 

2,509,526   
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap -2019 5,348,511  328,168  (2,002,063)  (1,890,278)  6,435,734  2,509,526  -   
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24 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

24.4 Market risk(continued) 
 

(b) Interest rate risk (continued) 

Particulars 
Less than one 

month   
1 to 3 

months   
3 to 6 

months   
6 months 

to year  
Over 1 

year  

Non 
interest 
bearing   Total  

Effective 
interest rate 

2018 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000   
Cash and balances with the Central Bank of the 

UAE 800,000  450,000  250,000  -  
 

-  1,491,272  2,991,272  
1.78 - 2 35 

% 
Due from banks 720,855  146,920  -  -  -  16,598  884,373  2.45 – 3.4% 
Due from the Head Office and other branches 2,626,195  642,775  183,650  91,825  -  66,139  3,610,584  0.85 - 3.7% 

Loans and advances to customers 2,805,907  2,921,395  541,943  933,909  6,006,534  -  13,209,688  
3.50 - 
9.45% 

Investment securities -  -  -  -  142,880  -  142,880  2.15% 
Customers indebtedness under acceptances -  -  -  -  -  380,227  380,227  - 
Property and equipments -  -  -  -  -  7,458  7,458  - 
Derivatives -  -  -  -  -  4,367  4,367  - 
Deferred tax asset -  -  -  -  -  453,489  453,489   
Other assets -  -  -  -  -  58,980  58,980  - 
Total assets 6,952,957  4,161,090  975,593  1,025,734  6,149,414  2,478,530  21,743,318   

Due to banks 1,371,866  476,745  -  506,300  -  44,187  2,399,098  0.9 - 3.65% 
Due to the Head Office and other branches 176,304  62,074  134,799  1,289,958  367,300  45,532  2,075,967  0.82 – 3.4% 
Deposits from customers 1,115,579  2,002,917  2,017,488  3,680,471  622,839  4,768,544  14,207,838  0 - 4% 
Liabilites under acceptances -  -  -  -  -  380,227  380,227  - 
Other liabilities -  -  -  -  -  316,429  316,429  - 
Total liabilities  2,663,749  2,541,736  2,152,287  5,476,729  990,139  5,554,919  19,379,559   
                On balance sheet interest rate sensitivity gap – 

2018 4,289,208  1,619,354  (1,176,694)  (4,450,995)  5,159,275  (3,076,389)  2,363,759   
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap -2018 4,289,208  5,908,562  4,731,868  280,873  5,440,148  2,363,759  -   
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24 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
24.4   Market risk(continued)  
 
(c) Currency risk 
 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in foreign exchange rates. The Bank has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are 
monitored on a daily basis and hedging strategies used to ensure positions are maintained 
within established limits. 
 
As the UAE Dirham and other GCC currencies, except Kuwait are currently pegged to the US 
Dollar, balances in US Dollars are not considered to represent significant currency risk. 
 
(d) Equity price risk 
 
Equity price risk is the possibility that equity prices will fluctuate, affecting the fair value of 
equity investments and other instruments that derive their value from a particular equity 
investment or index of equity prices. The Bank has no exposure to equity price risk as at 31 
December 2019. 
 
24.5 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial 
asset. Liquidity risk can be segregated into two broad categories: 

(1) Funding liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in funding the 
increase in assets and meeting its obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled 
by delivering cash or other financial assets, without incurring unacceptable losses. 
 
(2) Market liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank cannot easily offset or eliminate a position 
at the market price because of market disruption or inadequate market depth. 
 
(i) Management of liquidity risk 
 
The Bank manages liquidity risk on a short term, medium term and long term basis. The Bank's 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Bank's reputation. ALCO is the 
responsible governing body that approves the Bank's liquidity management policies. Liquidity 
is managed by the ALCO within the predefined liquidity limits as set out in the Board approved 
Asset Liability Management Policy. ALCO is responsible for ensuring that the Bank is self-
sufficient and is able to meet all its obligations to make payments as they fall due by operating 
within the liquidity limits set for the Bank. 
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24 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
24.5 Liquidity risk(continued) 

The key elements of the Bank's liquidity strategy are as follows : 

(a) Maintaining a diversified funding base consisting of customer deposits (both retail and 
corporate) and wholesale market deposits and maintaining contingency facilities; 

(b) Carrying a portfolio of highly liquid assets, diversified by currency and maturity; 

(c) Monitoring liquidity ratios, maturity mismatches, behavioral characteristics of the 
Bank's financial assets and liabilities, and the extent to which the Bank's assets are 
encumbered and so not available as potential collateral for obtaining funding; and 

(d) Carrying out stress testing of the Bank's liquidity position. 

Liquidity requirements to support calls under guarantees and standby letters of credit 
are considerably less than the amount of the commitment because the Bank does not 
generally expect the third party to draw funds under the agreement. The total 
outstanding contractual amount of commitments to extend credit does not necessarily 
represent future cash requirements, as many of these commitments will expire or 
terminate without being funded. 

 
Exposure to liquidity risk 
 
The key measure used by the Bank for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of net liquid assets 
(i.e. total assets by maturity against total liabilities by maturity) and its loans to deposit ratio. 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Loans and advances to customers, net 14,504,388  13,209,688 
Deposits from customers 18,062,947  14,207,838 
Loans to deposit ratio 80.30%  92.97% 
 
 
Details of the Bank's net liquid assets are summarised in the table below by the maturity profile 
of the Bank's assets and liabilities based on the contractual repayments. The maturity profile is 
monitored by the management to ensure adequate liquidity is maintained. 
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24 Financial risk management(continued) 
 
24.5 Liquidity risk(continued) 
 
Maturity profile of asset and liabilities 
 

Particulars 
Less than one 

month  1 to 3 months  3 to 6 months  
6 months to 

year  Over 1 year  Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
            

Cash and balances with the 
Central Bank of the UAE 1,789,857  200,000  600,000  -  -  2,589,857 

Due from banks 2,974,307  393,966  587,680  550,950  -  4,506,903 
Due from the head office and 
other branches 618,895  -  -  -  -  618,895 

Loans and advances to 
customers 3,884,763  999,801  448,969  284,684  8,886,171  

 
14,504,388 

Investment securities -  -  -  -  146,828  146,828 
Derivatives 5,175  -  -  -  -  5,175 
Other assets 86,381  -  -  -  -  86,381 
Total assets 9,359,378  1,593,767  1,636,649  835,634  9,032,999  22,458,427 
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24 Financial risk management(continued) 
 
24.5 Liquidity risk(continued) 
 
Maturity profile of asset and liabilities (continued) 
 

Particulars 
Less than one 

month  1 to 3 months  3 to 6 months  
6 months to 

year  Over 1 year  Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
            
Due to banks 940,747  -  -  404,031  -  1,344,778 

Due to the head office and 
other branches 103,182  139,415  11,019  9,132  367,300  630,048 

Deposits from customers 8,120,494  2,081,651  3,592,998  3,957,849  309,955  18,062,947 
Derivatives 90  -  -  -  -  90 
Other liabilities 297,681  -  -    -  297,681 
Total liabilities 9,462,194  2,221,066  3,604,017  4,371,012  677,255  20,335,544 
Net on balance sheet 
liquidity gap 2019 (102,816)  (627,299)  

           
(1,967,368)  (3,535,378)             8,355,744  2,122,883 

            
At 31 December 2018:            
Total assets 8,573,895  4,161,090  992,011  1,025,734  6,149,414  20,902,144 
Total liabilities 7,983,714  2,396,790  2,152,287  5,476,729           990,085  18,999,605 
Net on balance sheet 
liquidity gap 2018 590,181  1,764,300  (1,160,276)  (4,450,995)  5,159,329  1,902,539 
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24 Financial risk management(continued) 
 
24.6 Operational risk 
 
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or the impact 
of external events. Operational risks emanate from every segment of Bank's operation and are 
faced by all the business units. The Bank's objective is to manage operational risk so as to 
balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the Bank's reputation with overall cost 
effectiveness and innovation. In all cases, the Bank's policy requires compliance with all 
applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 
 
The Bank has taken measures to put in place tools, firstly to identify all such operational risks. 
The Bank has also taken measures to implement processes and policies to mitigate the risk to 
an acceptable level and to avoid or minimise financial losses and damage to Bank's reputation. 
In order to ensure a structured and focused operational risk management process, the Bank has 
also an Operational Risk Management Committee ("ORMC") whose mandate is to oversee 
operational risk management process, consider each operational risk in order of "priority by 
significance", to develop policies, processes and procedures for managing operational risk in 
all of the Bank's material products, activities, processes and systems as well as recommend best 
way to integrate the operational risk management in the overall organisation wide risk 
management process. ORMC is to develop overall Bank standards for the management of 
operational risk in the following areas: 
 
(a) requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent 

authorisation of transactions; 
(b) requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions; 
(c) compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements; 
(d) documentation of controls and procedures; 
(e) requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy 

of controls and procedures to address the risks identified; 
(f) requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action; 
(g) development of contingency plans; 
(h) training and professional development; 
(i) ethical and business standards; and 
(j) risk mitigation, including insurance where this is cost effective. 
 
Compliance with Head Office standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews 
undertaken by internal audit. The results of internal audit reviews are shared with Audit 
Committee at Head Office level and Senior Management of the Bank. 
 
In addition to the reviews by internal audit, the compliance with policies and procedures is 
strengthened by reviews of compliance and operational risk manager. 
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24 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
24.7 Derivative financial instruments 
 
The Bank enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes. 
Derivative financial instruments used by the Bank include swaps and foreign exchange forward 
contracts. The Bank is not engaged in any trading in derivatives. Derivatives are used purely 
for the hedging purposes for the clients as well as the Bank's own balance sheet positions. 
 
Swaps are agreements between the Bank and other parties to exchange future cash flows based 
upon agreed notional amounts. Swaps most commonly used by the Bank are interest rate swaps. 
Under interest rate swaps, the Bank agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals, 
the difference between fixed-rate and floating-rate interest amounts calculated by reference to 
an agreed notional amount. 
 
Foreign exchange forward contracts are commitments to either purchase or sell foreign 
currencies at a specified future date for a specified price. 
 
The Bank is subject to credit risk arising from the respective counterparties’ failure to perform. 
Market risk arises from the possibility of unfavourable movements in interest rates relative to 
the contractual rates. However, market risk in most of the cases is covered through back-to-
back deals to square the Bank’s position 
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24 Financial risk management(continued) 
 
24.7 Derivative financial instruments(continued) 
 
The table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments, which are equivalent to the market values, together with 
the notional amounts analysed by the term to maturity. 

        Notional amount by term of maturity 

 
Positive 

fair value   
Negative 

fair value  
Notional 
amount   

Within 3 
months  

3-12 
months  1-5 years  

 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  
2019             
             

Foreign exchange contracts 5,175  90  2,923,352  501,586  2,127,926  293,840  
 5,175  90  2,923,352  501,586  2,127,926  293,840  
2018             
Foreign exchange contracts 4,727  360  3,296,362  1,377,799  1,494,955  423,607  
 4,727  360  3,296,362  1,377,799  1,494,955  423,607  
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24 Financial risk management(continued) 
 
24.8 Capital risk management 
 
The Bank's regulator, the Central Bank of the UAE, sets and monitors regulatory capital 
requirements.  
 
The Bank's objective when managing capital are as follows: 
 
(1) Safeguarding the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern and increase return for 

stakeholders; and 
 
(2) Comply with regulatory capital set by the Central Bank of the UAE. 

 
The Bank's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The impact of the level 
of capital on stakeholders’ return is also recognised and the Bank recognises the need to 
maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and 
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. 
 
The Bank also assesses its capital requirements internally taking into consideration growth 
requirements and business plans, and quantifies its regulatory and risk / economic capital 
requirements within its integrated ICAAP Framework. Risks such as interest rate risk in the 
banking book, concentration risk, strategic risk, legal and compliance risk, stress risk, insurance 
risk and reputational risk are all part of the ICAAP. 
 
Effective from 2017, the capital is computed using the Basel III framework of the Basel 
Committee on Banking Supervision (‘Basel Committee’), after applying the amendments 
advised by the CBUAE, within national discretion. The Basel III framework, like Basel II, is 
structured around three ‘pillars’: minimum capital requirements, supervisory review process 
and market discipline. 
  
The Bank’s regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers: 

  
• CET1 capital is the highest quality form of capital, comprising share capital, legal, 

statutory and other reserves, fair value reserve, retained earnings, after deductions for 
intangibles and other regulatory adjustments relating to items that are included in equity 
but are treated differently for capital adequacy purposes under ‘CBUAE’ guidelines. 
 

• Tier 2 capital comprises of collective provision which shall not exceed 1.25% of total 
credit risk weighted assets. 
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24 Financial risk management(continued) 
 
24.8 Capital risk management (continued) 

  
The CBUAE issued Basel III capital regulations, which came into effect from 1 February 2017 
introducing minimum capital requirements at three levels, namely Common Equity Tier 1 
(‘CET1’), Additional Tier 1 (‘AT1’) and Total Capital. The minimum capital adequacy 
requirements as set out by the Central Bank are as follows: 
 

• Minimum common equity tier 1 (CET 1) ratio of 7% of risk weighted assets 
(RWAs). 

 
• Minimum tier 1 ratio of 8.5% of RWAs. 

 
• Total capital adequacy ratio of 10.5% of RWAs. 

 
Additional capital buffers (Capital Conservation Buffer (CCB) and Countercyclical Capital 
Buffer (CCyB) - maximum up to 2.5% for each buffer) where introduced over and above the 
minimum CET1 requirement of 7%.  
 
The UAE Central Bank issued Basel III capital regulation vide its notice no. 
CBUAE/BSD/N/2020/66 dated January 07, 2020 which was partially effective as at December 
31, 2019 (as per the regulation, only Pillar II is applicable in December 2019 and the rest will 
be applicable from June 2020. 
 
The Bank has complied with all the externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
Following is the Bank’s capital adequacy position under Basel III as at 2019: 
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24 Financial risk management(continued) 

24.8 Capital risk management (continued) 
 

    
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 

Tier 1 capital    
Head Office assigned capital 760,000   760,000 
Statutory reserves 79,498   65,289 
Retained earnings 1,680,929   1,553,051 
Total tier 1 capital 2,520,427  2,378,340 
Less: Regulatory Deductions (387,994)  (494,374) 
CET 1 Capital after deduction 2,132,433   1,883,966 
    
Tier 2 capital    
Fair value reserve (28)  (3,976) 
General provisions/general loan loss reserves 147,906  115,564 
Total tier 2 capital 147,878  111,588 
Total regulatory capital (sum of tier 1 and 2 capital) 2,270,705  1,995,554 
    
Risk weighted assets    
Credit risk 11,832,500  9,245,111 
Market risk 40,841  8,062 
Operational risk 933,268  1,144,271 
Total risk weighted assets (RWA) 12,806,609   10,397,444 
    
Total tier 1 capital expressed as % of RWA  16.65%  18.12% 
Total tier 2 capital expressed as % of RWA 1.16%  1.07% 

Capital adequacy ratio 17.81%  19.19% 

25 Customers indebtedness and liabilities under acceptances 
 

 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 

    
Customers indebtedness and liabilities under acceptances  2,040,493  380,227 

 

Customers’ indebtedness under acceptances represent the accepted documented liability 
amount which is recoverable from the respective customers of the Bank at the reporting date. 
Liabilities under acceptances represent bills of exchange, letter of credits etc., where the Bank 
has accepted the liabilities under documentary credits at the reporting date. These assets and 
liabilities have been presented on a gross basis on the face of the statement of financial position 
as the Bank does not have a legal right of set-off. 
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26 Related party transactions 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. 
In the case of the Bank, related parties, as defined in International Accounting Standard 24: 
Related Parties (IAS 24), include key management personnel and other branches and fellow 
subsidiaries which are part of Bank of Baroda Group (which includes the Corporate Head 
Office of the Bank and the branches of the Group operating in different countires in the world), 
with whom banking transactions are carried out on mutually agreed terms.  
 
The significant transactions included in the financial statements with related parties are as 
follows: 
 
  2019 2018 
  AED’000 AED’000 

    
Interest income  140,833 124,375 
Interest expenses  293,320 168,147 
Head Office charges  1,559 1,775 
 
The year-end balances in respect of related parties are disclosed as due from / to the Head 
Office and branches. The balances of amounts due from / to the Head Office and branches are 
as follows: 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
Due from the Head Office and other branches    
Bank of Baroda - United Kingdom 7,913  599,093 
Bank of Baroda - New York 469,270  550,950 
Bank of Baroda - India (Mumbai) 1,484  567,893 
Bank of Baroda - Brussels 55,749  515,273 
Bank of Baroda - Oman -  550,950 
Bank of Baroda - Gift City -  91,825 
Bank of Baroda - Hong Kong -  183,650 
Bank of Baroda - Kenya 11,019  - 
Bank of Baroda – UK Subsidaries 73,460  - 
Bank of Baroda - Mauritius -  459,125 
Bank of Baroda - Singapore -  91,825 
 618,895  3,610,584 
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26 Related party transactions (continued) 
 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
Due to Head Office and other branches    
Bank of Baroda - United Kingdom -  1,285,550 
Bank of Baroda - New York -  33,422 
Bank of Baroda - Oman 25,307  12,411 
Bank of Baroda - India (Treasury) 370,215  372,448 
Bank of Baroda - Brussels 55,095  146,920 
Bank of Baroda - UAE Branches 5,857  4,836 
Bank of Baroda - Kenya 173,574  179,977 
Bank of Baroda - Uganda -  29,384 
Bank of Baroda - Botswana -  11,019 
 630,048  2,075,967 
 
26.1 The Bank's management has identified the Chief Executive Officer and Deputy Chief 

Executive Officer as key management personnel. The disclosure, as required under IAS 
24 (revised) with respect to key management remuneration, would result in the 
disclosure of the compensation paid to both. 

 
 2019  2018 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Key management remuneration 743  911 
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27 Accounting classification and fair values 

The table below shows a reconciliation between line items in the statement of financial position 
and categories of financial instruments: 

 

Particulars 
Carrying 

amount  

Fair value 
through 

OCI  FVTPL 

 
Amortised 

cost 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
As at 31 December 2019        
Financial assets        
Cash and balances with the UAE Central 
Bank 

 
2,589,857  -  

-   
2,589,857 

Due from banks 4,506,903  -  -  4,506,903 
Due from the Head Office and other 
branches 

 
618,895  -  - 

  
618,895 

Loans and advances to customers 14,504,388  -  -  14,504,388 
Investment securities 146,828  146,828  -  - 
Derivatives 5,175    5,175  - 
Liabilities under acceptances 2,040,493  -  -  2,040,493 
Other assets (excluding prepayments) 86,381  -  -  86,381 
 24,498,920  146,828  5,175  24,346,917 
Financial liabilities        
Due to banks 1,344,778  -  -  1,344,778 
Due to the Head Office and other 
branches 630,048  -  

-  630,048 

Deposits from customers 18,062,947  -  -  18,062,947 
Derivatives 90  -  90  - 
Liabilities under acceptances 2,040,493  -  -  2,040,493 
Other liabilities 307,803  -  -  307,803 

 22,386,159  -  90  22,386,069 
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27 Accounting classification and fair values (continued) 
 

Particulars 
Carrying 

amount 

 

 

Fair value 
through 

OCI  FVTPL 

 
Amortised 

cost 
 AED’000   AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
As at 31 December 2018         
Financial assets         
         
Cash and balances with the UAE 
Central  Bank 

2,991,272   -  -  2,991,272 

Due from banks 884,373   -  -  884,373 
Due from the Head Office and other 
branches 

3,610,584   -  -  3,610,584 

Loans and advances to customers 13,209,688   -  -  13,209,688 
Investment securities 142,880   142,880  -  - 
Customers' indebtedness under 
acceptances 

380,227   -    380,227 

Derivatives 4,367   -  4,367  - 
Other assets (excluding prepayments) 58,980   -  -  58,980 
 21,282,421   147,247  4,367  21,135,124 
Financial liabilities         
Due to banks 2,399,371   -  -  2,399,371 
Due to the Head Office and other 
branches 

2,075,967   -  -  2,075,967 

Deposits from customers 14,207,838   -  -  14,207,838 
Customers' indebtedness under 
acceptances 380,227   -  -  380,227 
Other liabilities 316,429   -  -  316,429 
 19,379,882   -  -  19,379,882 
 
Management believes that the fair values of financial assets and liabilities measured at 
amortised cost are not significantly different from their carring values in these financial 
statements. 
 
Fair value measurement - fair value hierarchy: 
 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are 
based on quoted market prices ordealer price quotations. For all other financial instruments, 
the Bank determines fair values using other valuation techniques. 
 
For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is 
less objective and requires varying degrees of judgment depending on liquidity, concentration, 
uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific 
instrument. 
 
The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. 



Bank of Baroda - UAE Branches 
 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 
(continued) 

68 
 

 
27 Accounting classification and fair values (continued) 
 
Fair value measurement - fair value hierarchy (continued) 
 
Level 1:  
Inputs that are quoted market price (unadjusted) in active markets for an identical instruments.  
 
Level 2:  
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e. 
as prices) orindirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued 
using: quoted market prices in activemarkets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical 
or similar instruments in markets that are considered lessthan active; or other valuation 
techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable frommarket data. 
 
Level 3:  
Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation 
techniqueincludes inputs that are not observable and the unobservable inputs have a significant 
effect on the instrument’svaluation. This category includes instruments that are valued based 
on quoted prices for similar instruments for whichsignificant unobservable adjustments or 
assumption are required to reflect differences between the instruments. 
 
Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison 
with similar instruments for which market observable prices exist. Assumptions and inputs 
used in valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark profit rates, credit spreads and 
other premia used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign currency 
exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price volatilities and correlations. 
 
The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the 
price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
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27 Accounting classification and fair values (continued) 
 
Fair value measurement - fair value hierarchy (continued) 
 
The table below analyses financial instruments, measured at fair value at the end of reporting 
period, by level into fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised: 

 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 AED 000 AED 000 AED 000 AED 000 

2019 
Financial assets  
Investment securities 146,828 - - 146,828 
Derivatives - 5,175 - 5,175 

 _______ _______ _______ _______ 
 146,828 5,175 - 152,003 
 ====== ====== ====== ====== 

 
 
 
Financial liabilities 
Derivatives -                   90  - 90 

 _______ _______ _______ _______ 
 - 90 - 90 
 ====== ====== ====== ====== 
 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 AED 000 AED 000 AED 000 AED 000 

2018 
Financial assets  
Investment securities 142,880 - - 142,880 
Derivatives - 4,727 - 4,727 

 _______ _______ _______ _______ 
 142,880 4,727 - 147,607 
 ====== ====== ====== ====== 

 
 
 
Financial liabilities 
Derivatives -                  360  - 360 

 _______ _______ _______ _______ 
 - 360 - 360 
 ====== ====== ====== ====== 

  



Bank of Baroda - UAE Branches 
 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 
(continued) 

70 
 

 
27 Accounting classification and fair values (continued) 
 
Fair value measurement - fair value hierarchy (continued) 
 
The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value 
and analyses them by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value 
measurement is categorised.   
 
The carrying values of the financial assets and liabilities (that are not stated at fair value) are 
not significantly different to their fair values. 
 
 
  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Carrying 
amount 

At 31 December 2019 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
     
Assets      
Cash and balances with      
  UAE Central Bank - 2,589,857 - 2,589,857 
Due from banks - 12,332 4,494,571 4,506,903 
Due from Head office 
and other branches 

 
- 

 
- 

 
618,895 

 
618,895 

Loans and advances to     
customers - - 14,504,388 14,504,388 
Customers’ 
indebtedness under - - 2,040,493 2,040,493 

  acceptances     
Other assets - - 86,381 86,381 
 - 2,602,189 21,744,728 24,346,917 
     
Liabilities     
Deposits from 
customers - - 18,062,947 18,062,947 

Due to banks - 114,507 1,230,271 1,344,778 
Due to Head office and 
other branches - - 630,048 630,048 

Libilities under     
acceptances - - 2,040,493 2,040,493 
Other liabilities - - 307,803 307,803 
 - 114,507 22,271,562 22,386,069 
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27 Accounting classification and fair values (continued) 
 
Fair value measurement - fair value hierarchy (continued) 

 
 
 
 

Movements in level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value 
 
There was no movement between the levels of financial instruments during the year (2018: Nil) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

As at 31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Carrying 

amount 
 AED’00  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
Assets      
Cash and balances with     
UAE Central Bank - 2,991,272 - 2,991,272 
Due from banks - 16,598 867,775 884,373 
Due from Head office 
and other branches 

 
- 

 
- 

 
3,610,584 

 
3,610,584 

Loans and advances to     
customers - - 13,209,688 13,209,688 
Customers’ 
indebtedness under     

  acceptances - - 380,227 380,227 
Other assets - - 58,980 58,980 
 - 3,007,870 18,127,254 21,135,124 
     
Liabilities     
Deposits from 
customers - - 14,207,838 14,207,838 

Due to banks - 44,188 2,355,183 2,399,371 
Due to Head office and 
other branches - - 2,075,967 2,075,967 

Libilities under     
acceptances - - 380,227 380,227 
Other liabilities - - 316,429 316,429 

 - 44,188 19,335,644 19,379,832 
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27 Accounting classification and fair values (continued) 
 
Fair value measurement - fair value hierarchy (continued) 
 
Fair value offinancial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value 
 
The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for 
those financial instruments which are not already recorded at fair value in the financial 
statements: 
 
Asset for which fair value approximates carrying value 
 
For financial assets and financial liabilities that have short term maturity (less than three 
months) it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. This 
assumption is also applied to demand deposits and savings accounts without specific maturity. 
 
Fixed rate financial instruments 
 
The fair value of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost are estimated 
by comparing market interest rates when they were first recognised with current market rates 
for similar financial instruments. The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits is 
based on discounted cash flows using prevailing money-market interest rates for debts with 
similar credit and maturity. For other variable rate instruments, an adjustment is also made to 
reflect the change in required credit spread since the instrument was first recognised. 
 

28 Subsequent events 
 
The existence of novel coronavirus (CoVid-19) was confirmed in early 2020 and has been 
declared as pandemic by World Health Organisation, which inturn has resulted in significant 
disruption to business operations, trade and economic activities leading to significant economic 
uncertainty. The management has considered this outbreak to be a non-adjusting event. 
Considering the situation getting deteriorated with time, the management has assessed that it is 
impractical to determine a reliable quantitative estimate of the potential impact on the Bank’s 
financial position. Going forward, the impact on the current outbreak on the macroeconomic 
forecasts will be incorporated into the Bank’s estimates of its significant assets and liabilities 
and the management’s assessment of going concern assumption, whilst preparing the financial 
statements for the  year ended 31 December 2020. 
 
Other than the fact mentioned above, there have been no other significant events subsequent to 
31 December 2019 upto the date of the authorization of the financial statements on 16 April 
2020, which would have a material effect on or lead to inclusion of significant disclosure in 
these financial statements. 
 
29 Comparative figures 
 
Comparative figures are reclassified, where necessary, to conform with changes in the current 
period’s presentation. 
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